

210

The state of the s

9 1

E E

# ZLATNA PANEGA CEMENT AD

ANNUAL SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 31 December 2013

# ZLATNA PANEGA CEMENT AD

# Contents

(d)

71

3

TH

710

11

[290

11

100

3

ERI

1931

General Information	, <u>.</u>
Directors' Report	
IndependentAuditors' Report to the Shareholders of Zlatna Panega Cement AD	
Statement of Comprehensive Income	
Balance Sheet	
Statement of Changes in Equity	
Cash Flow Statement	
Notes to the Financial Statements	
1. Corporate information	7
2.1. Basis of preparation	
2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies	
2.3. Changes in accounting policy and disclosures	
3. Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions	
4. Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted	
5. Expenses and other revenues	
6. Income tax	
7. Fair value measurement.	32
8. Property, plant and equipment	
9. Investment property	
10. Intangible assets	
11. Investments	
12. Other financial assets.	36
13. Non-current assets held for sale	37
14. Inventories	38
15. Trade and other receivables	38
16. Prepayments	39
17. Cash and cash equivalents.	39
18. Issued capital and reserves	39
19. Interest-bearing loans to banks	40
20. Restoration provision	41
21. Retirement benefits	41
22. Trade and other payables	43
23. Related party disclosures	43
24. Dividends distributed.	46
25. Commitments and contingencies	46
26. Financial risk management objectives and policies	48
27. Fair value of financial instruments	50
28. Events after the reporting date	50

## ZLATNA PANEGA CEMENT AD

## General Information

## Directors

T.

II

IF I

W

17 300

E Inni

5 m

ž in

3 54

H. Steel

A.JEJN

12.00

松田

AP US

AM

Relli

Alexandar Nakov Chakmakov Michalis Sigalas Christos Panagopoulos Konstantinos Derdemezis Fokion Tasoulas Evstratios Voulgaridis

## Registered office

Zlatna Panega Village, Lovech District, No 2 Shipka Street

# **Solicitors**

Futekova, Hristova, Tomeshkova EOOD Penkov, Markov and Partners OOD

#### **Bankers**

EFG Eurobank – Lovech Branch Alpha Bank – Sofia Societe General – Expressbank, Sofia BNP Paribas United Bulgarian Bank – Sofia Raiffeisenbank Bulgaria SI bank - Sofia

# Auditors

Ernst & Young Audit OOD
Polygraphia Office Centre
47A, Tsarigradsko Shose Blvd., fl. 4
1124 Sofia

# ZLATNA PANEGA CEMENT AD DIRECTORS' REPORT

For the year ended 31 December 2013

#### DIRECTORS' REPORT

13

n

Œ

11

10

h

17

12

3 1

2 1

E I

1 10

YIM

4 100

1.10

100

2 2

10

ASIAN Phages The Directors present their report and the separate financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted for use in the European Union for the year ended 31 December 2013.

#### GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is registered in the Republic of Bulgaria. The principal activity of the Company includes production and sales of cement.

#### **BUSINESS DESCRIPTION**

#### Current period results

The result for the current year are considered positive since the profit before tax of the Company amounted to EUR 278 thousand. During the period the Company sold 507 thousand tons of cement (2012: 457 thousand tons and \$48 tons of clinker).

## Dividends and distribution of profits

At the General Meeting of Shareholders held on 9 May 2013, a decision was taken not to distribute dividends (2012: EUR nill).

## Share capital structure

			Nominal value
Shareholders	Percentage	Number of shares	(EUR thousands)
REA Cement Limited, Cyprus	99.99	32,169,338	16,448
Individuals and State of Bulgaria	0.01	3,689	2

#### Investments

As at 31 December 2013 Zlatna Panega Cement AD holds interests in the following subsidiaries and associates:

The Company is 100% owner of Zlatna Panega Beton EOOD, Gravel and Sand Pits Bulgaria EAD ("GSPB"), Eco Conception EOOD. Geospan EDOO, Macedonia was liquidated in April 2013. These investments are carried at cost as at 31 December 2013. Through GSPB, the Company has an interest of 48.77% in the capital of Holcim Karierni Materiali AD, a 48.72% interest in Holcim Karierni Materiali Plovdiv AD and a 100% interest in Double V Co Ltd., Ruse.

During 2010 Holcim Kariemi Materiali AD acquired 100% of Vris EOOD. As a result of the transaction, Zlatna Panega Cement has a significant influence with interest of 48.77% in Vris EOOD, through its subsidiary Gravel and Sand Pits – Bulgaria EAD.

In 2011 the Company incorporated a new subsidiary Ecc Conception EOOD. 100% of the share capital of the newly incorporated subsidiary is owned by Zlatna Panega Cement AD.

In 2010 the Company incorporated a new subsidiary Geospan EDOO, Macedonia. 100% of the share capital of the subsidiary was owned by Zlatna Panega Cement AD. This company is liquidated and the share capital was repaid to Zlatna Panega Cement AD at the end of 2012.

In addition as of 31 December 2013, the Company has a 9% (2012: 8%) participation in Granitoid AD (the majority shares of which are owned by REA Cement Limited).

# ZLATNA PANEGA CEMENT AD DIRECTORS' REPORT

For the year ended 31 December 2013

#### **OBJECTIVES OF THE COMPANY FOR 2014**

The Directors are set to achieve the following objectives for 2014:

- Increase of the effectiveness of industrial performance;
- Keeping of the market position in the conditions of extremely decreased construction market;
- Decrease of the variable and the fixed costs of the Company;
- Increase the usage of alternative fuels.

We look optimistically at the future of Zlatna Panega Cement AD and believe that if management exercises proper control over the business, this will lead to quality improvement and stability of the Company.

#### CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is constituted as a joint stock company in compliance with the Commercial Law of the Republic of Bulgaria and has a one-tier system of governance.

As at 31 December 2013 the Board of Directors consists of:

- 1. Alexandar Nakov Chakmakov
- 2. Mihalis Sigalas
- 3. Christos Panagopoulos
- 4. Fokion Tasoulas
- 5. Evstratios Voulgaridis

Alexander Nakov Chakmakov is the Company's Executive Director.

## Directors' responsibilities

The Directors are required by Bulgarian law to prepare separate financial statements each financial year that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company as at the year end and of the profit or loss and cash-flows for the year then ended.

The Directors confirm that suitable accounting policies have been used and applied consistently and reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates have been made in the preparation of the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013.

The Directors also confirm that applicable accounting standards have been followed and that the separate financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Alexandar Chakmakov Executive director

Zlatna Panega Cement AD Zlatna Panega

4 March 2014





0.32

d'Proje

10

TI.

6. 1

1.

TAIN!

II

2

1

(f 10)

18

510

E W

0 0

15

馬島

114

Jan 19

£. 4

Ernst & Young Audit OOD Polygraphia Office Center 47A, Tsarigradsko Shose Blvd., floor 4 1124 Sofia, Bulgaria Tel: +359 2 81 77 100 Fax: +359 2 81 77 111

ev.com

# Independent auditors' report To the shareholders of Zlatna Panega Cement AD

We have audited the accompanying separate financial statements of Zlatna Panega Cement AD, which comprise the separate balance sheet as of 31 December 2013, and the separate statement of comprehensive income, separate statement of changes in equity and separate statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's responsibility for the separate financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of separate financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted for use in the European Union, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

# Auditors' responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these separate financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the separate financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of separate financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the separate financial statements.



5.0

I

(Life

II.

AN AN

r I

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

# Opinion

In our opinion, the separate financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Zlatna Panega Cement AD as of 31 December 2013, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted for use in the European Union.

Ernst & Joung
Ernst & Young Audit OOD

12 March 2014

Sofia, Bulgaria

# ZLATNA PANEGA CEMENT AD SEPARATE STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2013

	Notes	2013_	2012
		€000	€000
Sale of cement products		27,746	28,362
Rendering of transport services		5,206	7,452
Revenue		32,952	35,814
Cost of sales	5.1	(27,844)	(29,391)
Gross profit		5,108	6,423
Other income	5.7	1,069	415
Selling and distribution costs	5.2	(406)	(493)
Administrative expenses	5.3	(3,447)	(3,670)
Other expenses	5.4	(948)	(1,207)
Operating profit		1,376	1,468
Finance income	5.8	71	46
Finance costs	5.9	(1,169)	(1,440)
Profit before tax		278	74
Income tax (expense)/ income	6	(40)	463_
Profit for the period		238	<u>537</u>
Actuarial gains on defined benefit plans	21	48	175
Income tax effect	6	(5)	
Net other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods		43	
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax		43	:*:
Total comprehensive income for the year		281	537

Chief Executive Officer Alexander Chakmakov

The accompanying notes to the financial statements on pages 7 to 50 form an integral part of these financial statements.

# ZLATNA PANEGA CEMENT AD SEPARATE BALANCE SHEET

As of 31 December 2013

100

73

To an

1

10

I

13

III.

375

1

I

File

7

m

	Notes	2013	2012
ASSETS		€000	€000
Non-current assets			
Property, plant and equipment	8	69,641	73,320
Investment property	9	-	56
Intangible assets	10	81	146
Investments in subsidiaries	11.1	8,493	8,493
Available-for-sale investment	11.2	24	21
Other financial assets	12	83	78
		78,322	82,114
Current assets			
Inventories	14	7,762	9,308
Trade and other receivables	15	7,474	8,783
Receivables from related parties	23	7,874	2,251
Prepayments	16	165	160
Income tax receivables		-	176
Cash and short-term deposits	17	63	430
	_ <del>-</del>	23,338	21,108
Non-current assets held for sale	13	827	668
		24,165	21,776
TOTAL ASSETS		102,487	103,890
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Equity			
Issued capital	18.1	28,602	28,602
Legal reserve	18.2	1,645	1,645
Retained earnings		44,058	43,777
Total equity		74,305	74,024
Non-current liabilities			
Interest-bearing loans to banks	19	14 700	17 (01
Finance lease liabilities	25	14,780 3	17,621
Restoration provision	20	2,311	70
Retirement benefit liability	21	2,311	2,170
Deferred tax liability	6	686	295
			686
Current liabilities		18,027	20,842
Trade and other payables	22	2 907	2 421
Finance lease liabilities	25	3,807	3,421
Interest bearing loans to banks	19	66	64
Income tax payable	19	6,180	5,511
Payables to related parties	23	4	-
Justice purities		98	28
Total liabilities		10,155	9,024
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES	_	28,182	29,866
CALL DE ALL DE LEGALITIES	\ <del>-</del>	102,487	103,890

Chief Executive Officer
Alexander Chakmakov

The accompanying notes to the financial statements on pages 7 to 50 form an integral part of these financial statements.

# ZLATNA PANEGA CEMENT AD SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2013

. . .

13

T

4

11

1.0

13

E 10

17 1

N B

E i

IJ

N I

H. H

2.2

18.4

A. f

	Issued capital (note 18.1) €000	£egal reserve (note 18.2) €000	Retained earnings €000	Total €000
At 1 January 2012	28,602	1,645	43,240	73,487
Profit for the year Other comprehensive income for the	120	4	537	537
year	799	12	[k]	<u> </u>
Total comprehensive income for the year	/⊛		537	537
At 31 December 2012	28,602	1,645	43,777	74,024
At 1 January 2013	28,602	1,645	43,777	74,024
Profit for the year Other comprehensive income for the		-	238	238
year			43	43
Total comprehensive income for the year	- T.,	14	281	281
At 31 December 2013	28,602	1,645	44,058	74,305

Chief Executive Officer Alexander Chakmakov

The accompanying notes to the financial statements on pages 7 to 50 form an integral part of these financial statements.

# ZLATNA PANEGA CEMENT AD SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2013

V

I

13

E

H

1 10

1

T

1: 1

11

L

1.5

1

5

4

3

3

For the year ended 31 December 2013			
OBED ATERIC A CONTINUES	Notes	2013	2012
OPERATING ACTIVITIES		€000	€000
Profit before tax		278	74
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows			
Non-cash:	_		
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	8	6,157	6,868
Amortisation of intangible assets	10	41	42
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment		(15)	(1)
Movement in doubtful debt allowance	15	(43)	314
Movement in restoration provision	20	141	276
Movement in employee benefit liability	21	14	33
Losses from fair value adjustments to investment properties	9	54	14
Impairment loss to fair value less costs to sell	13	12	17
Impairment of intangible asset - CO <sub>2</sub> emission rights	5.4	27	486
Other non-cash flows from operating activities Interest income		13	22
	5.8	(63)	(46)
Interest expense	5.9	929	1,034
Dividend income	5.8	(8)	-
Working capital adjustments:			<b></b>
Decrease/ (Increase) in inventories		1,546	(1,553)
Decrease/ (Increase) in trade and other receivables		230	(704)
(Increase)/ Decrease in prepayments		(31)	17
(Increase)/ Decrease in other financial assets		(5)	13
(Decrease)/ Increase in trade and other payables		(168)	1,329
Income tax received/ (paid)		135	(251)
Decrease in other financial liabilities			(492)
Net cash flows from operating activities		9,124	7,492
INVESTING ACTIVITIES			
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment		16	1,374
Purchase of property, plant and equipment		(1,806)	(2,182)
Purchase of intangible assets		-	(618)
Increase in participation in available-for-sale investment / capital			
in subsidiaries	11.2	(3)	(4,857)
Return of capital from subsidiaries			75
Loans granted to related parties		(4,899)	(5)
Loans repaid from related parties		258	1,176
Dividend received		8	×
Interest received		46	28_
Net cash flows used in investing activities		(6,380)	(5,009)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES			
Proceeds from interest-bearing loans		23,548	42,825
Repayment of interest-bearing loans		(25,742)	(48,778)
Payments of finance lease liabilities		(65)	(78)
Proceeds from loans from related parties		77	511
Repayment of loans from related parties		-	(511)
Interest paid		(929)	(1,044)
Net cash flows used in financing activities		(3,111)	(7,075)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents		(367)	(4,592)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January		430	5,022
The state of the s	17	63	430
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December	- 1		750

Chief Executive Officer

Alexander Chakmakov

The accompanying notes to the financial statements on pages 7 to 50 form an integral part of these financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 1. Corporate information

THE

The annual separate financial statements of Zlatna Panega Cement AD (the Company) for the year ended 31 December 2013 were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 4 March 2014.

Zlatna Panega Cement AD is a joint stock company. The Company is incorporated and domiciled in Zlatna Panega, Bulgaria with a resolution of the National Register 63/1989 430 and its fiscal year ends being 31 December.

The principal activities of the Company include the production and sale of cement. The plant is located near the village of Zlatna Panega. A nearby quarry is the main source of raw materials.

As of 31 December 2013 the Company was owned by:

REA Cement Limited, Cyprus

99.99 %

Individuals of the State of Bulgaria

0.01 %

The ultimate parent company is Titan Cement Company S.A., Greece.

# 2.1. Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for investment properties which are stated at fair value. They are presented in Euros (EUR) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (EUR thousand) except when otherwise indicated.

## Statement of compliance

The financial statements of Zlatna Panega Cement AD have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted for use in the European Union.

The preparation of these financial statements of the Company is required by the ultimate parent company for its consolidation. Therefore, these are the separate financial statements of Zlatna Panega Cement AD where the investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost. The Company meets the exemption criteria under IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, for not preparing and presenting consolidated financial statements, which are as follows:

- The shareholders of the Company have been informed about and do not object to Zlatna Panega Cement AD not presenting consolidated financial statements;
- The Company's debt or equity instruments are not traded in a public market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an over-the-counter market, including local and regional markets);
- The Company did not file, nor is in the process of filing, its financial statements with a securities commission or other regulatory organisations for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a public market; and
- The ultimate parent company, Titan Cement Company S.A., Greece, prepares and presents consolidated financial statements available for public use that comply with IFRS. These consolidated financial statements are obtainable on the internet address <a href="http://www.titan.gr">http://www.titan.gr</a>. The address of the registered office of Titan Cement Company S.A. is 22 A Halkidos Str., 111 43 Athens, Greece.

The Company has presented a separate set of statutory financial statements in Bulgarian, expressed in Bulgarian leva, in accordance with IFRS, as adopted for use in the EU. The statutory financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors 4 March 2014.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies

## a) Foreign currency translation

F

RI I

DIT.

THE R

11.1

N

The financial statements are presented in Euros while the functional currency of the Company is Bulgarian Lev (BGN). The Company uses Euro as a presentation currency due to the requirement of the ultimate parent company which is the main user of these financial statements.

As at the reporting date, the assets, liabilities, equity, revenue and expenses of the Company are translated into the presentation currency at the fixed rate of BGN/EUR of 1.95583 (or EUR/BGN of 0.51129) quoted by the Bulgarian National Bank. BGN is pegged to the EUR at the exchange rate of 1.95583 as from 1 January 2002 (BGN was pegged to the DEM as from 1 July 1997, with the introduction of the Currency Board in Bulgaria). In connection to the translation (from functional to presentation currency) no foreign exchange differences have arisen.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated on a monthly basis by applying the exchange rate published by the Bulgarian National Bank for the last working day of the respective month. All differences are taken to profit or loss. Non monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the dates of initial transactions.

# b) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates, and other sales taxes or duty. The Company analyses its selling arrangements against specific criteria to determine whether it acts as a principal or as an agent. It has concluded that it acts as principal in all such arrangements. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

# Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on dispatch of the goods.

## Rendering of services

Revenue from transport services is recognised over the period during which the service is performed.

#### Rental income

Rental income as a result of operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

#### Interest income

Interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR), which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. Interest income is included in finance income in profit or loss.

#### Dividend income

Revenue is recognised when the Company's right to receive the dividend payment is established.

#### c) Taxes

#### Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Tax reliefs are accounted for as a decrease in the income tax expense for the period.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

## c) Taxes (continued)

T I

BI

101

1

3

3

3

-1.75

3

5

Current income tax is recognised directly in the equity (and not in profit or loss) where the tax relates to items that have been recognised outside profit or loss. Management analyses periodically the individual items of the tax return for which the applicable tax provisions are subject to interpretation and recognises provisions where appropriate.

#### Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

- where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

- where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
- in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred taxes relating to items recognised outside the profit or loss are recognised outside the profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

#### Value added tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tax (VAT) except:

- where the VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in
  which case the VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item
  as applicable; and
- receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included.

The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

## d) Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement

# Financial assets

1

9 16

U

11

7

TI M

H S

11 18

135

11.

4

ш

AL AND

4. 10

<u>k. M</u>

1.0

#### Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held to maturity investments, and available for sale financial assets, as appropriate. The Company determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Financial assets are recognised initially, at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way purchases) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.

The Company's financial assets include long term receivables, cash and short term deposits, trade and other receivables, loan receivables, unquoted investments and other financial assets.

# Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

#### Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost (according to IAS 27 Consolidated and separate financial statements) in these separate financial statements. Further details are given in Note 2.1 above and Note 11.1.

#### Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method (EIR), less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in profit or loss. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the profit or loss in other expenses.

#### Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified in any of the other categories. The Company has an available-for-sale investment in equity shares (Note 11.2). As these shares do not have a quoted market price in an active market and their fair value cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

## d) Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

## Financial assets (continued)

## Derecognition

Ξ

100

1980

E

89

Ę

100

7

34

9

813

25

7

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
- The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass-through' arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Company's continuing involvement in the asset.

In that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset, is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to repay.

# Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred 'loss event') and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy/announce over-indebtedness or undertake other financial reorganisation or where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

#### Financial Assets carried at amortised cost

The Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

.

100

1

- Them.

. . .

3

3

E

. 9

# 2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

# d) Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

# • Financial assets (continued)

## Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial Assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on leans and receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of finance income in profit or loss. Loans together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Company. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to finance costs in profit or loss.

## Available-for-sale financial investments

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on the unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the amount that would be expected to be recovered from it, if reliably measured. The amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Such impairment losses are not reversed.

#### • Financial liabilities

## **Initial recognition**

Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Company determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

Financial liabilities are recognised initially, at fair value, and in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction costs.

The Company's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, other financial liabilities, interest bearing loans and borrowings.

# Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

# d) Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

## Financial liabilities (continued)

# Subsequent measurement (continued)

Interest bearing loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

Other non-interest bearing financial liabilities

Other non-interest bearing financial liabilities include retentions for qualitative performance of contractual obligations by construction subcontractors. Upon initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at the present value of all future cash outflows discounted using the prevailing market rates of interest for similar instruments. The Company accretes the discount to profit or loss using the effective interest rate method. The excess of the nominal value of other non-interest bearing financial liabilities over their present value is recognised in profit or loss.

## Derecognition

i h

32

124

Ε

H

31

1

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

# e) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

#### f) Fair value measurement

The Company measures investment properties and non-current assets held for sale at fair value at each balance sheet date. Fair values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are disclosed in Note 27. Fair values of non-financial assets such as non-current assets held for sale are disclosed in Note 7.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

- In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

100

188

100

Int

5

PS

0

015

M

# 2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

## f) Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

- Level 1 Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
- Level 2 Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
- Level 3 Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

The Company's management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement, such as investment properties, and for non-recurring measurement, such as non-current assets held for sale.

External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets, such as investment properties and non-current assets held for sale. Involvement of valuation experts is decided upon annually by the management. Selection criteria for external valuers include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained. The management decides, after discussions with the valuation experts, which valuation techniques and inputs to use for each case.

At each reporting date, the management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Company's accounting policies. For this analysis, the management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents. The management, in conjunction with the valuation experts, also compares each the changes in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

# g) Issued capital

Issued capital represents the par value of shares issued and paid by the shareholders adjusted with the effect of hyperinflation as disclosed in Note 18.1. Any proceeds in excess of par value are recorded in share premium.

# h) Non-current assets held for sale or for distribution to equity holders of the parent and discontinued operation

The Company classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale or for distribution to equity holders of the parent if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale or distribution rather than through continuing use. Such non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale or as held for distribution are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell or to distribute. Costs to distribute are the incremental costs directly attributable to the distribution, excluding the finance costs and income tax expense.

The criteria for held for distribution classification is regarded as met only when the distribution is highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate distribution in its present condition. Actions required to complete the distribution should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the distribution will be made or that the distribution with be withdrawn. Management must be committed to the distribution expected within one year from the date of the classification. Similar considerations apply to assets or a disposal group held for sale.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified as held for sale or as held for distribution.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

E

WN,

150

TEN

'Dan

ENE MAI

# 2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

# h) Non-current assets held for sale or for distribution to equity holders of the parent and discontinued operation (continued)

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale or for distribution are presented separately as current items in the balance sheet.

A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is:

- A component of the Company that is a CGU or a group of CGUs
- Classified as held for sale or distribution or already disposed in such a way, or
- A major line of business or major geographical area

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single amount as profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations in the statement of comprehensive income.

Additional disclosures are provided in Note 13.

## i) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and/ or accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property, plant and equipment when that cost is incurred, if the recognition criteria are met. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the useful life of the assets, as follows:

Buildings	10 to 40 years
Plant and machinery	5 to 40 years
Vehicles	5 to 25 years
Furniture and fittings	2 to 10 years

#### Spare parts

Spare parts are recognized as non current assets if all of the following recognition criteria are met:

- The spare parts are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes;
- The spare parts are expected to be used during more than one period:
- It is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity;
- The cost of the item can be measured reliably;
- The unit value of the qualifying major spare part and stand-by equipment exceeds EUR 35 thousand.

The depreciation of a major spare part begins when the spare part is bought into service rather than when it is acquired, as in that moment it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. The useful life can not exceed the lesser period between the remaining useful life of the asset to which the spare part is attached and its own useful life.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

The asset's residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

## j) Leases

M

1

26

27

303

7.67

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception date of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Company as a lessee

Finance leases which transfer to the Company substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in finance costs in profit or loss.

A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Company as a lessor

Leases where the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the assets are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased and recognized over the lease term on the same bases as rental income. Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

## k) Investment properties

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying amount includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met; and excludes the costs of day to day servicing of an investment property. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss in the period of derecognition.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment property to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If owner occupied property becomes an investment property, the Company accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property, plant and equipment up to the date of change in use.

#### 1) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessary takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consists of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

## m) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and/or any accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be finite, as follows:

Concession rights20 yearsLicences10 yearsComputer software10 years

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

#### CO2 emission rights

Emission rights are tested for impairment annually or when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. An impairment charge is recognised in profit or loss in other operating expenses.

# n) Inventories

BUL

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition are accounted for as follows:

Raw materials Purchase cost on a weighted average basis;

Finished goods and work in cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing progress overheads based on normal operating capacity but excluding borrowing

costs

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

## o) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples or available fair value indicators.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

# o) Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

For non-financial assets, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Company makes an estimate of recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

## p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and at hand and short term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as defined above.

## q) Provisions

#### General

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

## Restoration provision

In accordance with the quarry concession agreement, the Company is obliged to restore the surface of the quarry upon the cessation of its use. The provision arising during the period reflects the additional amount that would be needed to restore the surface of the quarry that has been excavated during the period. Restoration costs are provided at the present value of expected costs to settle the obligation using estimated cash flows. The cash flows are discounted at a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the restoration liability. The unwinding of the discount is expensed as incurred and recognised in profit or loss as a finance cost. The estimated future costs of restoration are reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate. Changes in the estimated future costs or in the discount rate applied are recognised in profit or loss.

## r) Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits include salaries, bonuses, social security contributions and paid annual leave of current emplyees expected to be settled wholly within twelve months after the end of the reporting period. They are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the profit or less or included in the cost of an asset when service is rendered to the Company and measured at the undiscounted amount of the expected cost of the benefit. Information on short-term employee benefits is disclosed in Note 22.

The Company operates defined benefit plan arising from the requirement of the Bulgarian labour legislation and Collective Labour Agreement to pay two or six gross monthly salaries to its employees upon retirement, depending on the length of their service. If an employee has worked for the Company for 10 years, the retirement benefit amounts to six gross monthly salaries upon retirement, otherwise, two gross monthly salaries. These retirement benefits are unfunded. The cost of providing benefits under the retirement benefit plan is determined using the projected unit credit method. Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, are recognised immediately in the balance sheet with a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

# r) Employee benefits (continued)

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of:

- The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and
- The date that the Company recognises restructuring-related costs.

Interest expense is calculated by applying the discount rate to the defined benefit liability. The Company recognises the following changes in the defined benefit obligation in profit or loss for the period:

- Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine settlements within "Other expense"
- Interest expense within "Finance costs".

## s) CO2 emission rights

Emission rights are accounted under the net liability method, based on which the Company recognizes such a liability from the point when the emissions made are in excess of the allowances allocated. The liability to deliver allowances is measured at fair value (market price) of the emission rights as of year end.

Emission rights acquired in excess of those required to cover its shortages are recognized as an intangible asset, at cost. The intangible asset is not amortized and is subject to an annual impairment test (Note 2.2 m).

Gains from sale of emission rights are presented as reduction of Cost of sales in the profit or loss, in the period in which they arise, net of the cost of additionally purchased emission rights surrendered.

# ZLATNA PANEGA CEMENT AD

# NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2013

10 10

亡

1615

# 2.3. Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

# New and amended standards and interpretations

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations adopted as of 1 January 2013:

- IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Amendment) Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
- IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Revised)
- IFRS 1 Government Loans Amendments to IFRS 1
- IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Amendment) Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
- 9 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
- IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine
- Improvements to IFRS 2009 2011 Cycle

When adoption of the standard or interpretation is deemed to have an impact on the financial statements or performance of the Company, its impact is described below:

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Amendment) - Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
The amendments to IAS 1 require grouping of items presented in other comprehensive income. Items that will be
reclassified ('recycled') to profit or loss at a future point in time are presented separately from items that will not be
reclassified by introducing two sub-headings "Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods" and "Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods"
in the statement of other comprehensive income. The amendments affect presentation only and have no impact on the
Company's financial position or performance.

# IAS 1 Clarification of the requirement for comparative information (Amendment as part of Improvements to IFRS – 2009 – 2011 Cycle)

These amendments clarify the difference between voluntary additional comparative information and the minimum required comparative information. An entity must include comparative information in the related notes to the financial statements when it voluntarily provides comparative information beyond the minimum required comparative period. The amendments clarify that the opening statement of financial position, presented as a result of retrospective restatement or reclassification of items in financial statements does not have to be accompanied by comparative information in the related notes. The amendments affect presentation only and have no impact on the Company's financial position or performance.

# IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Revised)

The key changes of IAS 19 (Revised) that have impacted the Company include the following:

- Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in the balance sheet with a corresponding debit or
  credit to retained earnings through other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur.
  Previously, the Company deferred the recognition of actuarial gains and losses applying so called "10%
  corridor" approach.
- \* All past service costs are recognised at the earlier of when the amendment/curtailment occurs or when the related restructuring or termination costs are recognised. As a result, unvested past service costs can no longer be deferred and recognised over the future vesting period.
- Accumulating paid annual leave that the Company does not expect to settle wholly within twelve months after the end of the reporting period are classified as other long-term employee benefits and measured at the present value of expected cost. Previously, all paid annual leave was measured at the undiscounted amount of the expected cost of the benefit.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 2.3. Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

# New and amended standards and interpretations (continued)

# IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Revised)(continued)

IAS 19 (Revised) also introduces more extensive disclosures. These have been provided in Note 21.

Transitional provisions of IAS 19 (Revised) require retrospective application, i.e. restatement of opening statement of financial position of the earliest comparative period presented (1 January 2012) and the comparative figures. The Company has estimated that the effect of the retrospective application will be immaterial to its financial position as of 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 as well as to its financial performance for the year ended 31 December 2012. As a result, the Company has referred to IAS 8 Accounting Policies. Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, para 8 which provides a relief from the application of accounting policies when the effect is deemed immaterial and has applied IAS 19 changes as from 1 January 2013.

#### IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

7

271

117

IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under IFRS for all fair value measurements. IFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how to measure fair value under IFRS. IFRS 13 defines fair value as an exit price. As a result of the guidance in IFRS 13, the Company re-assessed its policies for measuring fair values. IFRS 13 also requires additional disclosures.

Application of IFRS 13 has not materially impacted the fair value measurements of the Company. Additional disclosures where required, are provided in the individual notes relating to the assets and liabilities whose fair values were determined. Fair value hierarchy is provided in Note 7.

## Other new and amended standards and interpretations

The following amendments to standards do not have any effect on the Company's financial position and /or performance:

- IFRS 1 Government Loans Amendments to IFRS 1
- IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Amendment) Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
- IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine
- Improvements to IFRS 2009 2011 Cycle (other than IAS 1 Clarification to the requirement for comparative information (Amendment) described above)

#### Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications of comparative information included in the statement of comprehensive income were made in order to ensure consistency with the presentation of current period's figures and improve understandability of financial information:

- Third party fees at the amount of EUR 95 thousand as of 31 December 2012 was presented within other expenses as compared to prior period when it was presented within Selling and Distribution costs.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 3. Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported income, expenses, assets, liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Use of available information and application of judgment are inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from such estimates and the differences may be material to the financial statements. These estimates are reviewed on a regular basis and if a change is needed, it is accounted for in the period the changes become known.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

## Restoration provision

The Company recognizes a provision for quarry restoration. This requires the management to make estimates about the cost of materials, labour, third party services and other expenses necessary for the restoration activities. The estimation of these future costs is complex and requires management to make estimates and judgments because the obligation will be fulfilled in the future and the related contract and laws are often not clear regarding what is required. Furthermore, the resulting provision is further influenced by the changing technologies and, environmental, safety, business, political and statutory considerations. At 31 December 2013 the best estimate of the restoration provision was EUR 2,311 thousand (31 December 2012: EUR 2,170 thousand). Further details are provided in Note 20 to the financial statements.

# Retirement benefits

The retirement benefit obligation is determined using actuarial valuation for financial year 2013. The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about discount rates, future salary increases, personnel turnover rates and mortality rates. Due to the long-term nature of the plan, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. The net employee liability at 31 December 2013 is EUR 247 thousand (31 December 2012: EUR 295 thousand). Further details are provided in Note 21 to the financial statements.

The Company expects to settle accumulated paid annual leave classified as short-term employee benefits as of 31 December 2013 of EUR 95 thousand (Note 22) entirely within twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

#### Useful lives of property plant and equipment, and intangible assets

Accounting for property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets involves the use of estimates for determining the expected useful lives of these assets and their residual values. The determination of the useful lives of the assets is based on management's judgment. Further details are provided in Note 2.2 i) and Note 2.2 m).

#### Impairment of receivables

Management maintains an allowance for doubtful receivables to account for estimated losses resulting from the inability of customers to make required payments. When evaluating the adequacy of an allowance for doubtful receivables, management bases its estimates on the ageing of accounts receivable, balances and historical write-off experience, customer credit worthiness and changes in customer payment terms. If the financial condition of customers were to deteriorate, actual write-offs might be higher than expected. At 31 December 2013 the best estimate of the allowance for impairment of receivables is EUR 1,652 thousand (31 December 2012: EUR 1,695 thousand). Further details are provided in Note 15.

#### Investment properties

The Company carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognized in profit or loss. The investment properties have been fair valued by accredited external valuer based on income or market approach. Further details are provided in Note 9.

#### Non-current assets held for sale

The Company values its non-current assets held for sale at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The Company has engaged an independent appraiser to perform a fair valuation of the properties, based on the market approach. Further details are provided in Note 13.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 3. Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)

CO2 emission rights

1

9

 $\Xi$ 

Emission rights acquired in excess of those required to cover its shortages are recognized as an intangible asset, at cost. They are tested for impairment annually by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. Following an annual impairment testing of CO<sub>2</sub> emission rights, an impairment charge of nil was recognised as of 31 December 2013 (31 December 2012: EUR 486 thousand). Further details are provided in Note 10.

The Bulgarian National Quota Allocation Plan for CO2 emission allowance for the period 2008-2012 has expired and as of the at the balance sheet date and the date of approval of the separate financial statements there is no officially approved government plan by the European Commission for allocation of CO2 emission allowance for periods 2013 onwards. According to the CO2 verification audit performed in February 2014, Zlatna Panega Cement AD has used 327,619 Tons of CO2 during 2013. These emission rights must be surrendered on behalf of Zlatna Panega Cement for 2013. As of 11 March 2014 the information from the European Commission is that all twenty seven European countries have approved National Allocation Plans and are in position to distribute to the installations in their registers the emissions approved. Bulgaria has submitted to the European Commission the agreed final and correct version of the National Allocation table on 11 December 2013. As per its published version on the website of the Bulgarian Environmental Ministry, Zlatna Panega cement AD is entitled to receive 806,691 tons of CO2 allowances for 2013. The allowances expected to be received will fully cover the estimated consumption of 327,619 tons CO2 for 2013.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

 $\equiv$ 

# 4. Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted

Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted up to the date of issuance of the Company's financial statements are listed below. This listing is of standards and interpretations issued, which the Company reasonably expects to have an impact on disclosures, financial position or performance when applied at a future date. The Company intends to adopt those standards when they become effective.

# IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions - Amendment to IAS 19

The narrow-scope amendments apply to contributions from employees or third parties to defined benefit plans. The objective of the amendments is to simplify the accounting for contributions that are independent of the number of years of employee service, for example, employee contributions that are calculated according to a fixed percentage of salary. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. It is not expected that these amendments would be relevant to the Company.

## IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (Revised)

The revised standard, as adopted for use in the EU, is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. As a consequence of the new IFRS 10 and IFRS 12, what remains of IAS 27 is limited to accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities, and associates in separate financial statements. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of this Standard on its financial position or performance.

## IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (Revised)

The revised standard, as adopted for use in the EU, is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. As a consequence of the new IFRS 11 and IFRS 12, IAS 28 has been renamed IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, and describes the application of the equity method to investments in joint ventures in addition to associates. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of this Standard on its financial position or performance.

# IAS 32 Financial Instruments (Amendment): Presentation - Offsetting Financial assets and Financial Liabilities The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. This amendment clarifies the meaning of "currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off" and also clarifies the application of the IAS 32 offsetting criteria to settlement systems. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the amendment on its financial position or performance.

# IAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets - Amendments to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets

These amendments remove the unintended consequences of IFRS 13 on the disclosures required under IAS 36. In addition, these amendments require disclosure of the recoverable amounts for the assets or CGUs for which impairment loss has been recognised or reversed during the period. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

## IAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting - Amendments to IAS 39

These amendments provide relief from discontinuing hedge accounting when novation of a derivative designated as a hedging instrument meets certain criteria. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. It is not expected that these amendments would be relevant to the Company.

#### IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement

The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015. IFRS 9 as issued reflects the first phase of the IASBs work on the replacement of IAS 39 and applies to classification and measurement of financial assets as defined in IAS 39. Phase I of IFRS 9 will have a significant impact on (i) the classification and measurement of financial assets and (ii) a change in reporting for those entities that have designated financial liabilities using the FV option. In subsequent phases, the IASB will address hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the new standard on its financial position or performance. The Standard has not yet been adopted for use in the EU.

ZLATNA PANEGA CEMENT AD
NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 4. Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted (continued)

#### IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

The new standard, as adopted for use in the EU, is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the accounting for consolidated financial statements. It also includes the issues raised in SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all entities including special purpose entities. The changes introduced by IFRS 10 will require management to exercise significant judgement to determine which entities are controlled, and therefore, are required to be consolidated by a parent, compared with the requirements that were in IAS 27. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the new standard on its financial position or performance.

#### IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

31

K

11

1 100

F

The new standard, as adopted for use in the EU, is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly-controlled Entities — Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11 changes the accounting for joint arrangements by moving from three categories under IAS 31 to the following two categories — joint operation and joint venture. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. The option in IAS 31 to account for joint ventures (as defined in IFRS 11) using proportionate consolidation has been removed. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the new standard on its financial position or performance.

# IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

The new standard, as adopted for use in the EU, is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. IFRS 12 includes all the disclosure requirements that were previously in IAS 27 related to consolidated financial statements, as well as all the disclosures that were previously included in IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and IAS 28 Investments in Associates. These disclosures relate to an entity's interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates, and structured entities. A number of new and more extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosures are also required. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the new standard on its financial position or performance.

## Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27)

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet the definition of an investment entity under IFRS 10. The exception to consolidation requires investment entities to account for subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of these amendments on its financial position or performance.

#### IFRIC Interpretation 21 Levies (IFRIC 21)

IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognises a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. For a levy that is triggered upon reaching a minimum threshold, the interpretation clarifies that no liability should be anticipated before the specified minimum threshold is reached. IFRIC 21 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. It has not yet been adopted for use in the EU. The Company does not expect that IFRIC 21 will have material financial impact in future financial statements.

#### Annual improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

In the 2010-2012 annual improvements cycle, the IASB issued amendments to seven standards which are applicable for financial year 2015. Summary of amendments and related standards are provided below:

- IFRS 2 Share-based Payments amended definitions of 'vesting conditions' and 'market condition' and adding the definitions of 'performance condition' and 'service condition';
- IFRS 3 Business Combinations clarification on the accounting for contingent consideration arising from business combination;
- IFRS 8 Operating Segments additional disclosures of management judgement on aggregating operating segments and clarification on reconciliation of total segments' assets to the entity's assets;
- IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement clarification on interaction with IFRS 9 as regards short-term receivables and payables;
- IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment amended to state that when an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the carrying amount while the accumulated depreciation is calculated as a difference between the gross carrying amount and the carrying amount after taking into account accumulated impairment losses;

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 4. Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted (continued)

# Annual improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle (continued)

- IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures clarified that a management entity that provides key management services to a reporting entity is deemed to be a related party; disclosure of the service fee paid or payable is required;
- IAS 38 Intangible Assets same amendment as IAS 16 above.

The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the amendments on its financial statements. The Improvements to IFRS -2010-2012 Cycle have not yet been adopted for use in the EU yet.

# Annual improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

THE

11

E.

11111

I I I

H

[ [

I

Total

9

In the 2011-2013 annual improvements cycle, the IASB issued amendments to four standards which are applicable for financial year 2015. Summary of amendments and related standards are provided below:

- IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards -clarification on the early application of new IFRS that is not yet mandatory;
- IFRS 3 Business Combinations clarification on scope exclusions regarding the formation of joint arrangement in the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself;
- IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement clarification on the application of portfolio exception (measuring fair value of a group of financial assets and financial liabilities on a net basis;
- IAS 40 Investment Property clarification on the interrelationship between IFRS 3 and IAS 40.

The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the amendments on its financial statements. The Improvements to IFRS -2011-2013 Cycle have not yet been adopted for use in the EU yet.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 5. Expenses and other revenues

# 5.1 Cost of sales

1

1

I

II.

T

I

I

I

sI.

R

W.

i

1/1

i

1

Ē

1

31

層

	2013	2012
	€000	€000
Variable costs		
Distribution expenses – freight	(5,185)	(7,652)
Kiln fuel	(4,891)	(7,834)
Electricity	(2,983)	(3,785)
Raw materials	(1,914)	(2,355)
Fuel and oil	(410)	(428)
Refractory	(212)	(115)
Grinding media	(66)	(30)
Restoration provision (note 20)	(6)	-
Other expenses	(484)	(541)
Fixed costs		
Depreciation	(5,818)	(6,520)
Plant salaries, wages and related expenses	(1,692)	(1,845)
Packaging costs (including related staff cost)	(961)	(1,124)
Other fixed costs	(867)	(911)
Contract labour	(703)	(850)
Repair and maintenance - spare parts	(542)	(685)
Plant utilities	(94)	(109)
Insurance and taxes	(67)	(162)
Amortization	(14)	(14)
Lining	(6)	(3)
Inventory change	(927)	1,201
Net (expense)/ income from transactions with emission rights	(2)	4,371
	(27,844)	(29,391)
Net (expense)/ income from transactions with emission rights		
	2013	2012
	€000	€000
Income from sale of emission rights		5,992
Cost of purchasing additional rights surrendered to cover excess emissions	(24)	(1,599)
Utilized provision for emissions in excess of emission rights granted	22	1.7
Accrued provision for emissions in excess of emission rights granted	-	(22)
	(2)	4,371
5.2 Selling and distribution costs		
	2013	2012
	€000	€000
Salaries and related expenses	(233)	(290)
Car related expenses	(72)	(90)
Advertising and promotion	(30)	(40)
Insurance and taxes	(21)	(21)
Travel - entertainment	(17)	(20)
Utilities	(12)	(13)
Other	(21)	(19)
	(406)	(493)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 5. Expenses and other revenues (continued)

# 5.3 Administrative expenses

1 55

1

I W

I

1 1

(4)

E

( ) III

3

H

Acce .

	2013	2012
	€000	€000
Salaries and related expenses	(1,367)	(1,520)
Security	(459)	(457)
Depreciation	(339)	(348)
Car related expenses	(168)	(193)
Utilities	(163)	(186)
Consultancy fees	(160)	(174)
Donations	(112)	(152)
Insurance and taxes	(109)	(128)
Travel – entertainment	(75)	(86)
Repairs and maintenance	(55)	(1)
Audit fees	(54)	(56)
Amortization	(27)	(28)
Other	(359)	(341)
		(341)
	(3,447)	(3,670)
5.4 Other expenses		
	2013	2012
	€000	€000
Cost of goods, materials and scrap sold	(667)	(85)
Staff leaving indemnities	(72)	(42)
Impairment of trade receivables (note 15)	(44)	(361)
Retirement benefit charge (note 21)	(25)	(21)
Third party fees	(23)	(95)
Expenses for canteen	(12)	(30)
Write off of materials	(1)	(11)
Expenses pertaining to disposal of property, plant and equipment	(1)	(7)
Impairment of Intangible asset - CO <sub>2</sub> emission rights (note 10)	₫	(486)
Impairment loss to fair value less cost to sell (note 13)	2	(17)
Losses from fair value adjustments to investment properties (note 9)	-	(14)
Other	(103)	(38)
	(948)	(1,207)
5.5 Expenses by nature		
	2013	2012
Matariala mad and access to 1	€000	€000
Materials used and recognised as an expense Hired services	(12,409)	(16,826)
Depreciation (note 8)	(8,764)	(11,660)
	(6,157)	(6,868)
Employee benefits expense (note 5.6) Change in work in progress and finished goods	(3,556)	(3,896)
Amortisation (note 10)	(927)	1,201
Net (expense)/ income from transactions with emission rights	(41)	(42)
Other	(2) (789)	4,371
Total cost of sales, selling and distribution, administrative and other	(109)	(1,041)
expenses	(32,645)	(34,761)
		(37,701)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 5. Expenses and other revenues (continued)

# 5.6 Employee benefits expense

13

7 30

1

I

I

12

18

1

J.

it. Apren,

5.0 Employee benefits expense		
	2013	2012
	€000	€000
Wages and salaries	(2,536)	(2,797)
Social security costs	(451)	(496)
Retirement benefits (note 21)	(25)	(21)
Other related expenses	(544)	(582)
	(3,556)	(3,896)
5.7 Other income		(2,070)
	2013	2012
	€000	2012 €000
Sale of scrap and materials	697	197
Rendering of other services	75	44
Refund of excise	65	60
Reversal of impairment of receivables (note 15)	51	30
Sale of goods and rent of offices	47	34
Net movement in unused paid leave (note 22)	36	6
Profit on disposal of fixed assets	15	ĭ
Other	83	43
	1,069	415
	<del></del>	
5.8 Finance income		
	2013	2012
	€000	€000
Loans provided to related parties (note 23)	61	9
Income from participation (note 23)	8	20
Bank accounts	2	19
Effect from discounting of trade receivables	(88)	18
	71	46
5.9 Finance costs		
	2013	2012
Texton and are a constant	€000	€000
Interest expenses:  Bank loans and overdrafts	(925)	(1,005)
Interest expense on finance lease	(4)	(5)
Loans received from related parties (note 23)		(1)
Effect from discounting of restoration provision (note 20)	(135)	(276)
Fee expense	(80)	(86)
Foreign exchange losses, net	(15)	(32)
Effect from discounting of other financial liabilities		(23)
Other finance costs (note 21)	(10)	(12)
	(1,169)	(1,440)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 6. Income tax

1

I

8

A

i,

-

The major components of income tax (expense)/ income for the year ended 31 December 2013 and 2012 are:

	2013 €000	2012 €000
Current income tax charge	(45)	(56)
Deferred income tax income	5	519
Income tax (expense)/ income reported in profit or loss	(40)	463
		2013 €000
Deferred income tax expense related to actuarial gains on defined benefit pla	ns	(5)
Deferred tax charged directly to other comprehensive income		(5)

In 2013 the nominal statutory tax rate is 10% (2012: 10%).

Reconciliation between income tax (expense)/ income and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the statutory tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2013 and 2012 are:

	2013	2012
1 F #1	€000	€000
Accounting profit before income tax	278	74
Income tax expense at statutory tax rate of 10% for 2013 (2012: 10%)	(28)	(7)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes	(12)	(21)
Tax relief recognized in tax return		491
Income tax (expense)/ income	(40)	463

As per the provisions of Bulgarian Corporate Income Tax Act (CITA) any taxable person is eligible to income tax relief up to 100% of the income tax for the fiscal year, only if the following requirements are simultaneously met:

- the taxable person carries out manufacturing activities solely in municipalities where the rate of unemployment for the year preceding the current year is by 35% or more higher than the average for Bulgaria for the same period;
- additional requirements, the most important of which are as follows:
  - the income tax holiday should be invested in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, part of an initial capital expenditure plan;
  - the initial investment (i.e. qualifying capital expenditure projects) should be made within four years following the beginning of the year for which the income tax relief is claimed;
  - the initial investment must be made in municipalities where the rate of unemployment for the year of tax holiday claim is by 35% or more higher than the average for Bulgaria for the same period;
  - the activity, related to the initial investment, should continue to be performed in the respective municipality for a period of at least five years after the year of completion of the initial investment; this circumstance shall be declared annually in the annual tax returns until the lapse of a five-year period;
  - at least 25% of the value of the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, forming part of the initial investment, should be self-financed or debt-financed by the taxable person;
  - the income tax relief should not exceed 50% of the present value of the property, plant and equipment, included in the initial investment plan, determined as at 31 December of the year of the tax holiday.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

# 6. Income tax (continued)

-

E

T

1

1

130

LINE

As of 31 December 2013 the Company considers that it is eligible for the following tax relieves as all the above mentioned requirements of CITA are considered satisfied:

- EUR 4,010 thousand related to qualifying capital expenditure project "Vertical Cement Mill" (with total budgeted amount of EUR 10,000 thousand) declared in 2007 annual tax return. This tax relief was recognised as a reduction of current income tax expense in the statement of comprehensive income for the financial year 2008.
- EUR 1,331 thousand related to qualifying capital expenditure project "Raw Material silos" (with total budgeted amount of EUR 3,000 thousand) which was declared in 2008 annual tax return. This tax relief was recognised as a reduction of current income tax expense in the statement of comprehensive income for the financial year 2008.
- EUR 141 thousand related to qualifying capital expenditure project "Tyres feeding installation for Kiln 5" (with total budgeted amount of EUR 300 thousand) which was declared in 2009 annual tax return. This tax relief was recognised as a reduction of current income tax expense in the statement of comprehensive income for the financial year 2009.
- EUR 2,309 thousand related to qualifying capital expenditure project "RDF Installation" (with total budgeted amount of EUR 4,793 thousand) which was declared in 2010 annual tax return. This tax relief was recognized as a reduction of current income tax expense in the statement of comprehensive income for the financial year 2010 and 2011.
- EUR 491 thousand related to qualifying capital expenditure project SNCR (the selective noncatalytic reduction) installation that will be carried out in 2013 and 2014 with total budgeted amount of EUR 1,000 thousand. This tax relief was recognised as a reduction of current income tax expense in the statement of comprehensive income for the financial year 2012.

Deferred income tax at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 relates to the following:

	Balance Sheet		Profit or loss for the year		Other Comprehensive Income	
	2013	2012	2013	2012	2013	2012
	€000	€000	€000	€000	€000	€000
Deferred tax liability						
Accelerated depreciation for						
tax purposes	1,120	1,167	47	405	æ	290
	1,120	1,167				
Deferred tax asset						
Unused leave allowance	(10)	(13)	(3)	(1)	36	-
Restoration provision	(231)	(217)	14	28	_	3
Retirement benefits	(24)	(29)	-	3	(5)	-
Impairment of receivables	(165)	(169)	(4)	31		_
Impairment loss to fair		` '	( )			
value less costs to sell	(2)	(2)	5:	2	120	-
Impairment of Intangible						
assets - CO <sub>2</sub> emission rights	(2)	(49)	(47)	49	8.5	-
Other	1193	(2)	(2)	2	\€:	(6)
_	(434)	(481)				
Deferred tax income / (expense)			5	519	<u>(5)</u>	16
Deferred tax liability, net	686	686				
Reconciliation of deferred tax	x liability, net:					
						2013
						€000
Opening balance as of 1 January						686
Tax income during the period, recognised in profit or loss						(5)
Tax expense during the period, recognised in equity						5
Closing balance as of 31 December						686

For the year ended 31 December 2013

## 7. Fair value measurement

E

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Company's assets and liabilities.

## Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy as of 31 December 2013

		Fair value measurement using				
	Date of valuation	Total	Quoted prices in active markets (Level 1)	Significant observable inputs (Level 2)	Significant unobser- vable inputs (Level 3)	
		€000	€000	€000	€000	
Assets for which fair values are disclosed:						
Loans and receivables (Note 23)  Floating loans to related parties	21 12 2215	4 4 = 0				
Fixed rate loans to related parties	31.12.2013	4,658	-	4,658	-	
Tixed fate loans to related parties	31.12.2013	62		-	62	
Assets held for sale measured at lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell (Note 13)						
Land	3.12.2013	373			272	
Retail property	3.12,2013	75	-	-	373	
Residential appartments	3.12.2013	379	5 <del>0</del> 3	-	75 379	
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:						
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings Floating rate loans and borrowings (Note 19)	25 20 0010	21.000				
,	31.12.2013	21,029	27	21,029	-	
Floating rate borrowings from related parties (Note 23)	31.12.2013	77		77	2	

There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the period.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

## 8. Property, plant and equipment

	Land and buildings	Plant and machinery €000	Vehicles €000	Furniture and fittings €000	Assets under construction €000	Total €000
Cost:						
At 1 January 2012	15,371	87,042	5,183	1,446	9,706	118,748
Additions	91	750		79	612	1,532
Transfers	36	627	96	3.63	(759)	( <del>-</del>
Transfers from investment propertie						
(note 9)	1,807	0.00	*)	300	2	1,807
Transfers from non-current asse	ts					
held for sale (note 13)		415	÷3	5 = 5	25	415
Disposals	(19)	(539)	(126)	(51)_		(735)
At 31 December 2012	17,286	88,295	5,153	1,474	9,559	121,767
At 1 January 2013	17,286	88,295	5,153	1,474	9,559	121,767
Additions	74	61	_	3	2,285	2,423
Transfers	160	1,509	136	40	(1,845)	191
Transfers from investment properti	es				,	
(note 9)	56	**	-	-	-	56
Disposals	(52)	(17)	(53)	(98)	a .	(220)
At 31 December 2013	17,524	89,848	5,236	1,419	9,999	124,026
Depreciation:						
At 1 January 2012	2,803	35,042	2,877	1,180		41,902
Depreciation charge for the year	552	5,823	397	96		6,868
-		3,623	371	90	_	0,000
Transfers from non-current asset held for sale (note 13)	ets -	19	-	_		19
Disposals	(15)	(194)	(82)	(51)		(342)
At 31 December 2012	3,340	40,690	3,192	1,225		48,447
At 1 January 2013	3,340	40,690	3,192	1,225	-	48,447
Depreciation charge for the year	584	5,147	342	84	2	6,157
Disposals	(51)	(16)	(54)	(98)_	· · · · · ·	(219)
At 31 December 2013	3,873	45,821	3,480	1,211		54,385
Net book value:						
At 1 January 2012	12,568	52,000	2,306	266	9,706	76,846
At 31 December 2012	13,946	47,605	1,961	249	9,559	73,320
At 31 December 2013	13,651	44,027	1,756	208	9,999	69,641
At 31 Detemper 2013	40,001		1,750			

As at 31 December 2013 major spare parts of EUR 1,176 thousand are included in Plant and machinery. They are not available for use and therefore not depreciated.

The net book value of plant and machinery acquired through finance lease as of 31 December 2013 is EUR 355 thousand.

## NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2013

## 8. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

#### Assets under construction

Die

311

Assets under construction relate to major capital projects as Vertical cement mill 9, Water drainage system SNCR (the selective noncatalytic reduction) installation project and others.

### Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Based on the review of the tangible fixed assets, the Company's management has not found indicators that the book value of the assets exceed their recoverable amount. Therefore, no impairment of property, plant and equipment has been recognized at 31 December 2013 (2012: Nill).

Effective 1 January 2013 the Company reestimated the useful life of certain machineries. The effect from the change in the current year is as follows:

Depreciation expense before the change - EUR 121 thousand

Depreciation expense after the change - EUR 242 thousand

Effect – EUR 121 thousand

The amount of the effect in future periods is not disclosed because estimating it is impracticable.

## 9. Investment property

	2013 €000	2012 €000
At 1 January	56	1,721
Additions	-	98
Transfers from non-current assets held for sale (note 13)	20	58
Transfers to PPE (Note 8)	(56)	(1,807)
Loss from fair value adjustments (note 5.4)		(14)
Closing balance at 31 December	<b>a</b>	56

As of 31 December 2013 the company reclassified an apartment located in Loven Park district in Sofia with fair value EUR 56 thousand from Investment Property to Property, Plant and Equipment, as it intends to use the apartment for its own operational purposes.

As of 31 December 2012 the Company reclassified an investment property building located on Chemi Vruh Boulevard No 33E with fair value EUR 1,807 thousand to PPE as it intends to use it for its administrative purposes. An apartment located in Loven park area in Sofia with fair value EUR 58 thousand was reclassified from non-current assets held for sale to Investment property.

# ZLATNA PANEGA CEMENT AD NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS For the year ended 31 December 2013

## 10. Intangible assets

F

	Concession rights €000	Licences	Computer software €000	Other €000	Total €000
Cost:					
At 1 January 2012	41	138	186	-	365
Additions	-	107	.5	511	618
Disposals		(133)	E_	- 2	(133)
At 31 December 2012	41	112	186	511	850_
At 1 January 2013	41	112	186	511	850
Disposals		500	(5)	i.e.	(5)
Surrender of emission rights			<u> </u>	(24)	(24)
At 31 December 2013	41	112	181	487	821
Amortisation and impairment:					
At 1 January 2012	29	137	143	csa	309
Amortisation charge for the year	2	22	18	12	42
Disposals		(133)	-	3	(133)
Impairment (note 5.4)				486	486_
At 31 December 2012	31	26	161	486	704
At 1 January 2013	31	26	161	486	704
Amortisation charge for the year	2	22	17	-	41
Disposals	<u>-</u>	-	(5)	52.1	(5)
At 31 December 2013	33	48	173	486	740
Net book value:					
At 1 January 2012	12	1	43_		56
At 31 December 2012	10	86	25_	25	146
At 31 December 2013	8_	64	8	1	81

Other intangibles consist of the balance of the purchased emission rights at the amount of EUR 511 thousand impaired to EUR 25 thousand as of 31 December 2012. In 2013 emission rights amounting to EUR 24 thousand were surrendered in settlement of Company's obligation related to the emissions emitted in excess of the rights held/granted.

## Impairment of intangible assets

The Company has carried out a review for existence of impairment indicators at 31 December 2013. No indicators have been found that the carrying amount of the intangible assets exceeds their recoverable amount and therefore, no impairment loss has been recognised in the financial statements. Following an annual impairment testing of CO<sub>2</sub> emission rights as of 31 December 2012, an impairment charge of EUR 486 thousand was recognised.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

#### 11. Investments

P 78

#### 11.1 Investments in subsidiaries

		% equity intere	sŧ
	Country of incorporation	2013	2012
Zlatna Panega Beton EOOD	Bulgaria	100%	100%
Gravel and Sand Pits - Bulgaria EAD	Bulgaria	100%	100%
Eco Conception EOOD	Bulgaria	100%	100%
Geospan EDOO	Macedonia	· .	100%
		2013	2012
		€000	€000
Zlatna Panega Beton EOOD		8,421	8,421
Gravel and Sand Pits Bulgaria EAD		69	69
Eco Conception EOOD		3	3
		<b>8,49</b> 3	8,493

In November 2012 the Board of Directors took a decision to liquidate the subsidiary Geospan EDOO. The share capital EUR 75 thousand was fully repaid to Zlatna Panega Cement AD in December 2012. The legal procedures for the deregistration of the Company from the Companies register of Republic of Macedonia was completed in April 2013.

In November 2011 the Board of Directors took a decision to increase the share capital of the subsidiary Ziatna Panega Beton EOOD by EUR 4,857 thousand. The share capital was fully paid on 30 January 2012 and the increase was registered at the trade register on 2 February 2012.

The shares in subsidiaries do not have a quoted market price in an active market and their fair value cannot be reliably measured.

#### 11.2 Available-for-sale investment

The Company has a 9% (2012: 8%) participation in Granitoid AD, the majority shareholder of which is REA Cement Limited. Granitoid AD is a joint stock company, incorporated in Bulgaria. The equity shares are measured at cost because they do not have a quoted market price in an active market. Transactions for sales and purchases of shares are made over the counter at prices negotiated through financial intermediaries. In 2013 Zlatna Panega Cement AD increased its participation in Granitoid AD through purchase of 552 shares for the amount of EUR 3 thousand. The cost of the available-for-sale investment is EUR 24 thousand as of 31 December 2013 and EUR 21 thousand as of 31 December 2012.

### 12. Other financial assets

In accordance with the quarry concession agreement, the Company is obliged to maintain a deposit equal to 10% of the amount of the average three-month excavated material, during the concession period (20 years). As of 31 December 2013 the amount deposited and restricted for this purpose is EUR 83 thousand (31 December 2012: EUR 78 thousand). It earns interest at 2.535% per annum.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

3

9

Ì

## 13. Non-current assets held for sale

	2013 €000	2012 €000
At 1 January	668	1,898
Additions	159	221
Disposals	=	(980)
Transfers to property, plant and equipment (note 8)	2	(396)
Transfers to investment property (note 9)	-	(58)
Impairment loss to fair value less costs to sell (note 5.4)	- -	(17)
At 31 December	827	668

As of 31 December 2013 non-current assets held for sale at the amount of EUR 827 thousand comprise of two regulated land plots located in Sofia, a retail store in Sofia – Malinova Dolina and Belovodski pat, one apartment in Sofia, two apartments in Sunny Beach, an administrative building floor in Gabrovo and two apartments in Pirin Golf Holiday Club in Razlog.

## Description of valuation techniques and key inputs used to determine the fair value

Land	Valuation technique	Significant unobservable Inputs Estimated value per sq. m. on the basis of ask	Range (weighted average)
	Market Comparables Method	prices for comparable properties  Adjustment coefficient reflecting differences in	€73 - € 282
	(refer below)	plot's characteristics and the comparables	0.7 - 1
		Marketability discount	5% - 10%
		Ask price discount	10%
Retail properties	Market Comparables Method/ Depreciated cost	Estimated value per sq. m. on the basis of ask prices for comparable properties Adjustment coefficient reflecting differences in	€367 - € 1,104
	(refer below)	plot's characteristics and the comparables	1 - 1.15
		Ask price discount	15%
Residential apartments	Market Comparables Method/ Depreciated cost	Estimated value per sq. m. per month on the basis of ask prices for comparable properties  Adjustment coefficient reflecting differences in	€413 - €1,361
	(refer below)	plot's characteristics and the comparables Ask price discount	0.8 – 1.35 10%

Non-current assets held for sale are valued at lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The Company has engaged an independent appraiser to perform a fair valuation of the properties. The effective date of the valuations is 3 December 2013 and the appraiser confirmed that they were valid and as of 31 December 2013. The fair value of land was determined by the accredited valuer using market comparables approach. The fair value of the retail property was determined by the accredited valuer using market comparables approach and the depreciated cost method. The fair value of the residential apartments was determined by the accredited external valuer using the market comparables approach except for two of the properties where both the market camparables approach and the depreciated cost method were used (the two values were weighted as the market approach was assigned 90% weight and the depreciated cost approach - 10%). Under the market approach, the Appraiser used ask prices and adjusted them to reflect the differences in comparison to the valued property (such as location, accessibility, infrastructure, construction potential). In addition the Appraiser applied an ask price discount which varied depending on the property type and location. Under the depreciated cost method the Appraiser determined the new replacement cost of each property on the basis of the benchmark construction prices and adjusted it to reflect physical obsolescence. No fair valuation was performed for one of the properties in the category residential apartments acquired in December 2013. As the property was acquired as of year-end its carrying amount of EUR 89 thousand is considered a reasonable approximation of its fair value as of 31 December 2013. Costs to sell are deemed immaterial.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

#### 14. Inventories

7

196

	2013	2012
	€000	€000
Spare parts	5,035	4,970
Raw materials	1,145	1,810
Work in progress	622	1,469
Finished goods	603	708
Packaging materials	357	351
	7,762	9,308

## 15. Trade and other receivables

	2013	2012
	€000	€000
Trade receivables	5,902	7,473
Receivables under court procedure	3,126	2,872
Less: Provision for impairment	(1,652)	(1,695)
Trade receivables, net	7,376	8,650
Other receivables	98	133
Trade and other receivables, net	7,474	8,783

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 0-75 days terms.

As at 31 December 2013, trade receivables at nominal value of EUR 2,326 thousand (2012: EUR 2,421 thousand) were impaired following receivable collectability analysis performed by the Company's management.

As at 31 December 2013 the balance of the provision for impairment of receivables includes EUR 429 thousand impairment loss on receivables to amortized cost (2012: EUR 429 thousand). The impairment loss was calculated based on the expected repayment dates and the original effective interest rate estimated at 10.3%.

Movements in the allowance for impairment of receivables were as follows:

	Individually impaired receivables
	€000
At 1 January 2012	1,381
Charge for the period (note 5.4)	361
Utilized	(17)
Unused amounts reversed (note 5.7)	(30)
At 31 December 2012	1,695
At 1 January 2013	1,695
Charge for the period (note 5.4)	44
Utilized	(36)
Unused amounts reversed (note 5.7)	(51)
At 31 December 2013	1,652

For the year ended 31 December 2013

## 15. Trade and other receivables (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

				Past du	e but not im	paired	
	Total €000	Neither past due nor impaired €000	< 30 days €000	30-60 days €000	61-90 days €000	91-120 days €000	>120 days €000
31 December 2013	6,702	1,456	912	845	297	159	3,033
31 December 2012	7,924	949	2,711	768	530	361	2,605
16. Prepayments							
					2013		2012
					€000		€000
Prepayments to third J	parties				165		160
					165	·	160
17. Cash and cash	equival	ents					
					2013		2012
					€000		€000
Cash at bank					58		421
Cash in hand					5		9

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. As of 31 December 2013 the fair value of cash and cash equivalents is EUR 63 thousand (2012: EUR 430 thousand).

## 18. Issued capital and reserves

#### 18.1 Issued capital

6

4

72

\*

· 1

	<b>201</b> 3	2012_
	€000	€000
Ordinary shares of EUR 0.51 each, as per court registration	16,450	16,450
Hyperinflation adjustment	12,152	12,152
	28,602	28,602

In the period 1990-1997 the Bulgarian economy has experienced hyperinflation. According to IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies in such circumstances the Company has to hyper-inflate the amounts in its financial statements and to use them as a basis for the carrying amounts in its subsequent financial statements. The amount of EUR 12,152 thousand represents the effect of hyperinflation in the share capital from its nominal and legally registered value of EUR 16,450 thousand to EUR 28,602 thousand. The hyperinflation is performed using the movement in the exchange rate between Bulgarian Lev and German Mark (DEM) as the most representative and reasonable measure of inflation during that period.

	Number of ordinary shares (thousands)	Authorised capital
At 1 January 2012	32,173	16,450
At 1 January 2013		16,450
At 31 December 2013	32,173	16,450

All ordinary shares issued were fully paid.

430

For the year ended 31 December 2013

## 18. Issued capital and reserves (continued)

## 18.2 Reserves

Legal reserve

-

4

11

.4

\*

Legal reserves are formed as per article 246 of the Bulgarian Commercial Act stipulating reserve requirements for joint stock companies such as Zlatna Panega Cement AD. Legal reserves are required to equal one-tenth of the authorised capital. The source of the legal reserves comes from not less than one-tenth of earnings, premiums on share or debenture issues and other sources established by the articles of association of a company or the general meeting of its shareholders. The legal reserves can only be used to offset current year and prior year losses.

## 19. Interest-bearing loans to banks

Current	Interest rate %	Maturity		2012 £000
(1) Overdraft facility with limit				
of BGN 9,000 thousand (2012:	1M Sofibor	15 December		
BGN 14,000 thousand)	+ spread	2014	682	5,511
(2) Overdraft facility with limit	1M Sofibor	1 February		
of BGN 10,000 thousand	+ spread	2014	4,883	59
(3) Revolving credit facility with total limit of BGN 11,735	3M Sofibor	30 December		
thousand	+ spread	2014	615	-
IIIVabaila	Spread	2017	-	<u>-</u>
			6,180	5,511
	Interest			
	rate %	Maturity	2013	2012
Non-Current (3) Revolving credit facility with total limit of BGN 11,735			€000	€000
thousand (2012: BGN 12,556	3M Sofibor	30 December		
thousand)	+ spread	2014	147	5,394
,	SP			5,57
(4) Overdraft facility with limit	1M Sofibor			
of BGN 5,865 thousand	+ spread	20 April 2015	2,531	-
(5) Long-term bullet loan with	op. coo	=011p111	=,001	
total limit of BGN 24,000				
thousand for working capital				
needs and capital expenditure:	1M Sofibor	28 February		
long-term portion	+ spread	2015	12,271	12,271
Amortized cost adjustment (negative)			(22)	(44)
(O-ma ( <del>a</del> )				• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
			14,780	17,621

Interest-bearing loans are secured by Corporate Guarantee issued by Titan Cement S.A.

As at 31 December 2013, the Company has available EUR 10,002 thousand (2012: EUR 2,673 thousand) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of which all precedent conditions had been met.

As part of the loans conditions are included certain covenants based on the consolidated audited financial statements of Titan Cement Co SA, Greece and separate financial statements of Ziatna Panega Cement AD. As of 31 December 2013 the management of the Company is informed that Titan Cement Co S.A. is in compliance with all covenants. All covenants based on the separate financial statements of Ziatna Panega Cement AD are fully met.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

## 20. Restoration provision

1.31

100

LI

A.

1

	Restoration provision
	€000
At   January 2012	1,894
Arising during the period (note 5.1)	E80)
Discount rate adjustment and imputed interest (note 5.9)	276
At 31 December 2012	2,170
At 1 January 2013	2,170
Arising during the period (note 5.1)	6
Discount rate adjustment and imputed interest (note 5.9)	135
At 31 December 2013	2,311

A provision has been recognized for restoration costs, associated with the quarry concession agreement, under which the Company is obliged to restore the surface of the quarry upon the cessation of its use.

#### 21. Retirement benefits

According to the Bulgarian labour legislation and Company's collective labour agreement, Zlatna Panega Cement AD, as an employer is obliged to pay five or nine gross monthly salaries to its employees upon retirement, depending on the length of their service. If an employee has worked for the same employer for 10 years, the retirement benefit amounts to nine gross monthly salaries upon retirement (six gross monthly salaries as per Bulgarian labour legislation, plus three additional gross monthly salaries (two gross monthly salaries as per Bulgarian labour legislation, plus three additional gross monthly salaries (two gross monthly salaries as per Bulgarian labour legislation, plus three additional gross monthly salaries in accordance with the Company's Collective Labour Agreement). The retirement benefits are unfunded.

The Company performs actuarial assessment of the retirement benefit obligation once a year as part of the annual financial statement close procedures.

The following tables summarise the components of net benefits expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and amounts recognised in the balance sheet for the retirement benefit plan.

#### Net benefits expense

	2013	2012
	€000	€000
Current service cost (note 5.4)	25	21
Interest cost (note 5.9)	10	10
Net actuarial loss recognised during the year (note 5.9)		2
Net benefit expense recognised in profit or loss	35	33_
Actuarial gains recognized in other comprehensive income	48	

## NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2013

## 21. Retirement benefits (continued)

## Benefit liability

T)

113

11.1

E H

18.10

FU

1

•	2013	2012
	€000	€000
Present value of retirement benefit obligation	247	295
Benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet	247	295

Changes in the present value of the retirement benefit obligation are as follows:

	Amount
	€000
Retirement benefit obligation at 1 January 2012	273
Interest cost	10
Current service cost	21
Benefits paid	_
Actuarial gains on obligation	(2)
Retirement benefit obligation at 31 December 2012	302
Interest cost	10
Current service cost	25
Benefits paid	(35)
Actuarial gains on obligation	(55)
Retirement benefit obligation at 31 December 2013	247

The principal assumptions used in determining retirement benefit obligation are shown below:

	2013	2012
Discount rate	3.25 %	3.8 %
Future salary increases	2.0 %	4.0 %
Staff turnover	0-12 %	0-12 %

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption as at 31 December 2013 is as shown below:

Assumptions	Discount rate		Future sala	ry increases	Staff turnover	
	0.25%	0.25%	1%	1%	1%	1%
Sensitivity Level	increase	decrease	increase	decrease	increase	decrease
	EUR '000	EUR '000	EUR '000	EUR '000	EUR '000	EUR '900
Impact on the defined benefit obligation	(8)	8	34	(29)	30	(30)

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on net defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period.

The following undiscounted payments are expected contributions to be made in the future years out of the defined benefit plan obligation:

	2013
	€000
Within the next 12 months	27
Between 2 and 5 years	37
Between 6 and 10 years	250
Beyond 10 years	3,061
Total expected payments	3,375

The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting period is 20 years.

## NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2013

## 22. Trade and other payables

	2013	2012
	€000	€000
Trade payables from domestic suppliers  Trade payables from foreign suppliers	2,517	1,795
Trade payables	597	140
Customer prepayments and other accruals	3,114	1,935
Unused paid leave	226	938
	95	131
Social security	47	50
Payroll taxes	13	
V.A.T payable		19
Other taxes	114	185
	49	18
Insurance premium payable	31	22
Other payables	118	123
	3,807	3,421

Terms and conditions of the financial liabilities, set out in the tables above, are as follows:

- Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 1-90 day terms;
- Tax payables are non-interest bearing and are settled according to the legal deadlines;
- Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of 15 days.

## 23. Related party disclosures

## The ultimate parent

D

D

D

D

D

3

3

3

3

The ultimate parent of the Company is Titan Cement Company SA, incorporated in Greece.

## Entity with controlling interest in the Company

The Company is controlled by REA Cement Limited, Cyprus, holding 99.99% of its shares. The remaining 0.01% of the shares is held by individuals of the State of Bulgaria.

#### Subsidiaries

Zlatna Panega Beton EOOD, Geospan EDOO, Macedonia, Eco Conception EOOD and Gravel and Sand Pits – Bulgaria EAD ("GSPB") are wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Zlatna Panega Cement AD has also control over Double V Co, Ruse, Bulgaria, which is wholly owned by GSPB. In November 2012 the Board of Directors took a decision to liquidate the subsidiary Geospan EDOO and the voluntary liquidation procedure was completed in January 2013.

### Associates

Zlatna Panega Cement AD has a significant influence over Holcim Karierni Materiali AD, with interest of 48.77% and in Holcim Karierni Materiali Plovdiv AD, with interest 48.72% through its wholly-owned subsidiary Gravel and Sand Pits – Bulgaria EAD. During 2010 Holcim Karierni Materiali AD acquired 100% of Vris EOOD. As a result of the transaction, Zlatna Panega Cement has a significant influence with interest of 48.77% in Vris EOOD, through its subsidiary Gravel and Sand Pits – Bulgaria EAD.

## Other related parties

Granitoid AD, Cementarnica Usje AD, Cementarnica Kosjerich, Antea Cement SHA, Shar Beteiligung, GAEA — Green Alternative Energy Assets EAD and Zlatna Panega Cement AD are related parties because they are under the common control of Titan Cement Company SA (the ultimate parent).

The following table provides the total amount of transactions, which have been entered into with related parties during 2013 and 2012 as well as balances with related parties as of 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012:

For the year ended 31 December 2013

D

D

D

H

D)

3

3

3

## 23. Related party disclosures (continued)

		Sales to related parties	Purchases from related parties	Amounts due from related parties	Amounts due to related parties
		€000	€000	€000	€000
In respect of sales / purchases from related parties					
Ultimate parent company					
Titan Cement Company S.A.	2013	3	24	0.40	_
Titan Cement Company S.A.	2012	42	857	72	19
Subsidiaries					
Zlatna Panega Beton EOOD	2013	1,752	33	3,154	
Zlatna Panega Beton EOOD	2012	2,822	4	2,047	
Other related parties					
Cementamica Usje AD	2013	72	2	:	
Cementamica Usje AD	2012	1	_	2	-
Cementarnica Kosjerich	2013	025	12	-	_
Cementarnica Kosjerich	2012	146	Ŷ	140	Ξ:
Shar Beteiligung	2013	33	¥	-	-:
Shar Beteiligung	2012	110	-	_	E:
Antea Cement SHA	2013	-	0	2	_
Antea Cement SHA	2012	3	*	: <del>-</del>	±3
GAEA - Green Alternative Energy					
Assets EAD	2013	8	279	12	21
GAEA – Green Alternative Energy					
Assets EAD	2012	4.	75	9	8
Double V Co	2013	22	5	-	_
Double V Co	2012	88	1	ú	1
	2013			3,154	21
	2012			2,189	28

For the year ended 31 December 2013

## 23. Related party disclosures (continued)

In respect of loans from / to related parties		Interest income €000	Interest expense €000	Amounts owed from related parties €000	Amounts owed to related parties
Subsidiaries					
Zlatna Panega Beton EOOD Zlatna Panega Beton EOOD	2013 2012	55 5	S 1	4,658	30 (4)
Other related parties					
Granitoid AD Granitoid AD	2013 2012	6 4	×	62	72
GAEA – Green Alternative Energy Assets EAD	2013	T.	- -	62	77
GAEA – Green Alternative Energy Assets EAD	2012	021	-	<b>=</b> 1	
	2013			4,720_	77
	<b>20</b> 12			62	*

As at 31 December 2013 included in the amounts owed from related parties in respect of loans granted is interest receivable from Granitoid at the respective amount of EUR 2 thousand (2012: EUR 10).

As at 31 December 2013 included in the amounts owed from related parties in respect of loans granted is interest receivable from Zlatna Panega Beton at the respective amount of EUR 14 thousand.

As of 31 December 2013 Ziatna Panega Cement AD received dividends of EUR 8 thousand from its subsidiary Geospan EOOD.

### Loans owed from related parties

### Zlatna Panega Beton EOOD

D

D

D

10

I.I

1.3

1.4

In September 2013 Zlatna Panega Cement signed an agreement for substitution of bank debt obligations, whereas Zlatna Panega Cement substituted Zlatna Panega Beton (the initial borrower) in all its obligations and rights toward the bank. In September 2013 Zlatna Panega Cement granted a loan to Zlatna Panega Beton EOOD at the total limit of EUR 5,113 thousand. Interest is charged at 1M Sofibor rate plus spread of 3%. The intercompany loan is intended to finance the working capital needs of Zlatna Panega Beton EOOD. The loan is unsecured and is repayable on 31 December 2013.

In 2011 Zlatna Panega Cement AD granted a loan to Zlatna Panega Beton EOOD at the total amount of EUR 1,572 thousand. It was intended to finance the working capital needs of the subsidiary. The loan was unsecured and was repayable in March 2012. Interest was charged at 1M Sofibor rate plus spread of 2.30%. EUR 396 thousand of the loan was repaid during 2011. In February 2012, Zlatna Panega Beton EOOD repaid the remaining part of the loan.

#### Granitoid AD

As of 31 December 2013 Zlatna Panega Cement AD has borrowed to Granitoid AD the amount of EUR 60 thousand (2012: EUR 52 thousand). The intercompany loan is intended to finance the working capital needs of Granitoid. The loan is unsecured and is repayable in January 2014. Interest is charged at interest rate of 9.11%.

#### NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2013

## 23. Related party disclosures (continued)

#### Eco Conception EOOD

D

D

D)

D

D

U)

T

LE

In February 2013 the Company has provided a loan to Eco Conception EOOD at the total amount of EUR 51 thousand. The loan was repaid in April 2013. Interest was charged at 1M Sofibor rate plus spread of 3.6%.

#### Loans owed to related parties

## GAEA - Green Alternative Energy Assets EAD

In 2013 the Company has obtained a loan from GAEA – Green Alternative Energy Assets EAD at the total amount of EUR 77 thousand. The intercompany loan is intended to finance the working capital needs of Zlatna Panega Cement AD. The loan is unsecured and is repayable until 13 November 2014. Interest is charged at interest rate of 1 M Sofibor rate plus spread of 2.9%.

#### Zlatna Panega Beton EOOD

In July 2012 the Company was provided with a loan from Zlatna Panega Beton EOOD at the total amount of EUR 511 thousand. The loan was repaid in August 2012. Interest was charged at 1M Sofibor rate plus spread of 3%.

## Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

The sales and purchases from related parties are made at contracted prices. Outstanding balances at period end are unsecured, interest free (except for loans) and settlement occurs in cash. Except as disclosed in Note 18, there have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. For the period ended 31 December 2013, the Company has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed from related parties (2012: Nil). This assessment is undertaken each financial period by examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates.

## Compensation of key management personnel

	2013	2012
	€000	€000
Short-term employee benefits including social security expenses	804	737
	804	737_

### 24. Dividends distributed

During the year ended 31 December 2013 the General Meeting of Shareholders voted not to distribute dividends (during 2012: EUR Nil).

## 25. Commitments and contingencies

	2013	2012
	€000	€000
Capital commitments	685	632
Promissory note for supply of electricity	780	780
Promissory note to banks and leasing companies	55	58

NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2013

## 25. Commitments and contingencies (continued)

## Capital commitments

At 31 December 2013 the Company has capital commitments of EUR 685 thousand (2012: EUR 632 thousand) related to the completion of capital projects including: SNCR project, Replacement Trunnion for Coal Mill, Raw Material Carriages and others.

### Legal claims

D

D

D

D

13

5

1

3

N

No significant legal claims are foreseen by the management of the Company.

## Finance lease commitments - Company as a lessee

In 2011, the Company has entered into finance lease contract for plant and machinery – two concrete centres and a concrete pump. The leasing contracts for two of the assets expired in 2012 and the Company sold these assets. As of 31 December 2013 there is only one asset, subject to finance lease arrangement – a concrete centre.

The future minimum lease payments under finance leases together with the present value of net minimum lease payments are as follows:

	Minimum payments	2013 Present value of payments €000	Minimum payments €000	Present value of payments €000
Within one year	67	66	66	64
After one year but not more than five years	3	3	71	70
Total minimum lease payments	70	69	137	134
Less amounts representing finance charges  Present value of minimum lease	(1)		(3)	- 4
payments	69	69	134	134

#### Bank guarantees

As at 31 December 2013 the Company provided a total EUR 587 thousand of bank guarantees.

#### Other

The Company was last audited by the tax authorities for compliance with the following tax laws:

- Corporate income tax until 31 December 2009;
- VAT until 31 October 2010;
- Personal income tax until 31 December 2008;
- Social security contributions until 30 June 2009:
- Local taxes and fees until 31 December 2004.

The directors do not believe that, as of 31 December 2013, any material matters exist relating to the evolving fiscal and regulatory environment in the country, which would require adjustment to the accompanying financial statements.

#### Operating lease commitments - Company as a lessee

The Company has entered into operating leases with regard to certain motor vehicles. These leases have an average life of between 3 and 5 years with no renewal option included in the contracts. There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases.

## NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2013

## 25. Commitments and contingencies (continued)

## Operating lease commitments - Company as a lessee (continued)

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as of 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 are as follows:

	2013	2012
Within one year After one year but not more than five years	€000	€000
	167	146
	241	320_
	408	466

## 26. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Company's principal financial liabilities comprise bank loans and borrowings, trade and other payables. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Company's operations. The Company has various financial assets such as trade and other receivables and cash, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Company's financial instruments are cash flow interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk and credit risk. The management reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below.

#### Interest rate risk

Ď

Ď

Ď

Ď

D

4

No. of

3

1

]

1

The Company's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Company's short-term and long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. The Company's policy is to manage its interest cost through continuous negotiations with financial institutions (banks) aimed at achieving the most favourable terms and conditions that are on offer.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Company's profit before tax (through the impact on the floating rate borrowings). There is no impact on the Company's equity.

	Increase/decrease in basis points	Effect on profit before tax	
	€000	€000	
2013			
Loans in BGN	+200	(420)	
Loans in BGN	-100	210	
2012			
Loans in BGN	+200	(461)	
Loans in BGN	-100	230	

#### Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Company aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

## 26. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

### Liquidity risk (continued)

E 100 Y

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company's financial liabilities at based on contractual undiscounted payments.

#### As of 31 December 2013

	On demand	Less than 3 months	3 to 12 months	1 to 5 years	> 5 years	Total
	€000	€000	€000	€000	€000	€000
Interest bearing loans	*	5,020	1,708	14,913	5	21,641
Finance lease liabilities	*	17	50	3	~	70
Trade payables	29	3,114	.2	- 5		3,114
Other payables	*	693	_	=	-	693
Payables to related parties		21	-	77		98
		8,865	1,758	14,993	¥-	25,616

#### As of 31 December 2012

	On demand €000	Less than 3 months €000	3 to 12 months €000	1 to 5 years €000	> 5 years €000	Total €000
Interest bearing loans	20	224	6,184	18,648	5	25,056
Finance lease liabilities		16	50	71		137
Trade payables	-	1,935	43	-		1,935
Other payables	71	1,486	±1		-	1,486
Payables to related parties		28			-	28
	79	3,689	6,234	18,719	-	28,642

#### Foreign exchange risk

The Company's exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal due to the fact that the majority of foreign currency transactions relating to purchases are denominated in euro, which is currently fixed at BGN 1.95583 for 1 EUR.

## Credit risk

The Company trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the Company's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis. The maximum exposure is the carrying amount as disclosed in Note 15. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Company.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Company, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial investments and other financial assets (non-current), receivables from related parties the Company's exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

#### Capital management

The primary objective of the Company's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business as a going concern and to maximise shareholder value.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares, following the shareholders' approval. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

## 26. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Capital management (continued)

5

5

þ

Ď

D

9

1

7

7

S

1

The Company monitors its equity capital using earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) for the period. On the basis of the rules and principles followed consistently by Titan Group in this respect, EBITDA is as follows:

	2013	2012
	€000	€000
EBITDA	7,574_	8,864

As disclosed in Note 19 the Company is subject to externally imposed capital requirements under its loan contracts. The structure and management of debt capital is determined at TITAN Group level.

### 27. Fair value of financial instruments

Set out below is a comparison by class of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Company's financial instruments that are carried in the financial statements:

	Carrying amount		Fair v	ralue
	2013	2012	2013	2012
	€000	€000	€000	€000
Financial assets				
Trade receivables	7,376	8,650	7,376	8,650
Receivables from related parties	7,874	2,251	7,874	2,251
Other financial assets	83	78	83	78
Cash and cash equivalents	63	430	63	430
Financial liabilities				
Interest bearing loans and borrowings	21,029	23,266	21,029	23,266
Trade payables	3,114	1,935	3,114	1,935
Payables to related parties	98	28	98	28

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

- Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables, and other current assets and liabilities
  approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term maturities of these instruments;
- Other non-current financial assets represent a deposit restricted in accordance with the quarry concession agreement. As of 31 December 2013 the carrying amount of these assets was not materially different from their fair value.
- The fair value of fixed-rate and variable-rate interest bearing loans is estimated by discounting future cash flows using rates currently available for debt or similar terms and remaining maturities. The fair value approximates their carrying value. The own non-performance risk as of 31 December 2013 was assessed to be insignificant.

## 28. Events after the reporting date

The loan granted to Zlatna Panega Beton EOOD with repayment date on 31 December 2013 was renewed with an annex from 1 January 2014 until 31 January 2014 and from 1 February 2014 until 31 January 2015 at the same terms and conditions.

The interest-bearing bank loan with repayment date on 1 February 2014 was renewed with an annex from 31 January 2014 until 31 January 2015 at the same terms and conditions.

Apart from that, no other significant events have been identified after the reporting date that may influence the annual financial statements.